Arnulf Oppelt (Ed.)

Imaging Systems for Medical Diagnostics

Fundamentals, Technical Solutions and Applications for Systems Applying Ionizing Radiation, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance and Ultrasound



SIEMENS

Arnulf Oppelt Imaging Systems for Medical Diagnostics

Authors	Chapter	Authors	Chapter
Lothar Baetz	2,9	Wolfgang Nitz	15.2.1
Detlef Becker	19	Stefan Nowak	15.1.3.2
Heinrich Behner	12.1.5	Niels Oesingmann	15.2.5.1
Ralf Behrens	12.3.2	Bernd Ohnesorge	13.4, 13.5.1-13.5.3
Jens Bernhardt	12.1.1	Arnulf Oppelt	7, 8, 10, 12.3.1
Siegfried Bocionek	21	Karlheinz Pauli	6.3
Jan Boese	4	Paul Ponnath	12.1.3-12.1.4
Gerhard Brinker	15.1.7.4	Norbert Rahn	4
Herbert Bruder	13.4	Bharat Rao	20
Thomas Brunner	12.5	Rainer Raupach	13.1.4.4
Dieter Cherek	13.3.1	Judith Regn	12.4
Eduard David	1	Wolfgang Renz	15.1.4.4
Andrew Dewdney	15.1.2.1-15.1.2.4	Arne Reykowski	15.1.4.4
Hendrik Ditt	4	Stefan Roell	15.2.7
Karlheinz Dorn	19	Stefan Schaller	13.2, 13.6
Martin Dugas	21	Michael Scheuering	3
Thomas Flohr	13.2-13.6	Wilfried Schnell	15.1.4.1-15.1.4.3
Sven Fritzler	14.3, 17.2	Christian Schultz	18
Matthias Gebhardt	15.1.3.1	Eva Schwenzfeier-	15.1.7.1
Rainer Graumann	5	Hellkamp	
Jan Grimm	18	Johann Seissl	17.3
Alok Gupta	20	Matthias Seufert	12.1.6
Franz Hebrank	15.1.7.3	Hartmut Sklebitz	12.3.3
Bjoern Heismann	13.3.2	Karin Soeldner	12.1.2
Arne Hengerer	18	Martin Spahn	12.3.4
Gert Hetzel	16.9	Peter Speier	15.2.4.1
Peter Heubes	15.1.6.1	Eckart Stetter	15.1
Dimitre Hristov	17.1	Karl Stierstorfer	13.3.4, 13.3.5
Hans Kaarmann	8.4	Hans Stroehlein	12.1.5
Stefan Kaepplinger	14.3, 17.2	Christoph Suess	13.3.6
Stephan Kannengiesser	15.2.3	Michelle Svatos	17.1
Klaus Klingenbeck-Regn	14.1, 14.2	Stefan Thesen	15.2.4.2-15.2.4.4
Wolfgang Knuepfer	6	Lewis J. Thomas III	16.1-16.8
Gerhard Kohl	13.5.4	Peter Tichy	12.2
Arun Krishnan	20	Herbert Vestner	13.1.1, 13.1.2,
Wolfgang Kutschera	12.1		13.1.4.1-13.1.4.3
Gerhard Laub	15.2.4.5	Frank Wacker	15.2.6.3
Christine Lorenz	15.2.6.2	Heinrich Wallschlaeger	13.1.3
Thomas Mertelmeier	11, 12.6	Gerd Wessels	17.4
Matthias Mitschke	5	Karsten Wicklow	15.2.8
Edgar Mueller	15.2.5.2-15.2.6.1	Karl Wiesent	10.6
Ernst Neumeier	12.1.3-12.1.4	Andreas Wunder	18
Hartwig Newiger	14.4, 17.2	Zirao Zheng	17.1
Mathias Nittka	15.2.2		

Imaging Systems for Medical Diagnostics

Fundamentals, Technical Solutions and Applications for Systems Applying Ionizing Radiation, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance and Ultrasound

Edited by Arnulf Oppelt

Publicis Corporate Publishing

www.publicis.de/books

Complete ebook edition of Arnulf Oppelt (Editor), "Imaging Systems for Medical Diagnostics", ISBN 978-3-89578-226-8 (Print edition) 2nd edition, 2005

ISBN 978-3-89678-669-3 Publisher: Publicis Publishing © Publicis Erlangen, Zweigniederlassung der PWW GmbH

Foreword

Twenty-five years ago, in 1980, the first edition of 'imaging systems for medical diagnostics' appeared as a German paperback. This was a time when computed tomography with X-rays had just made its way into clinical routine and when real time ultrasound replaced static B-scanners. Magnetic resonance imaging, single photon and positron emission tomography were still in their infancy. The rapid development of these methods has led to two further editions, the last having appeared in 1995. An English translation of the second edition came out in 1990.

Why is it time now for a new edition? Imaging technology has made tremendous progress. All imaging modalities are now capable of generating three dimensional information of the human body. In order to make this information accessible, sophisticated digital image processing is required. Methods for the exact spatiotemporal superposition of information from different modalities have to be applied. The drastically increasing importance of information technology is further emphasized by the need for a uniform platform with an identical user interface for all modalities. *Syngo* has been a pioneer in this field. Ultimately, information technology enables the optimization of clinical workflow and thus helps increase the quality of care while at the same time reducing cost.

A new edition of 'imaging systems for medical diagnostics', therefore, can no longer restrict itself to the physical basics and to the actual technology of imaging instruments. Because of their increasing significance, applications of image and information processing and distribution have to be included. Nevertheless, the importance of the physical principles of modern imaging systems persists, which has led to the wellknown extraordinary technical solutions. The desire to convey this variety of technical knowledge explains the significant increase in the volume of the book.

In keeping with increasing internationalization not only in medical science but in all areas, this new edition appears only in English. The authors are active specialists in project management and development in the medical industry who drafted their contributions concurrently with their professional duties and were motivated by their devotion to the arena. A unique compendium of modern medical imaging technology has emerged which is useful for all parties, technically interested physicians as well as students, technicians, engineers and physicists.

Dr. Hermann Requardt Executive Vice President, Siemens Medical Solutions

Preface

This book is intended to give an overview on medical imaging from the technical side. It starts by recapitulating the biological facts of the human visual system, presents the physics of the imaging process, portrays current technical designs and concludes with the last developments of software technology. It is composed of five parts: The first part is dedicated to images, how they are processed in the human eye, how they can be subjectively characterized, how they can be displayed and fused when obtained from different modalities, and how one can use them to navigate. The second part is devoted to the physics of the different imaging methods, applying X-rays and γ -rays, ultrasound or nuclear magnetic resonance. The third part gives an outline on system theory and image reconstruction. The fourth part deals with the technology of actual imaging instrumentation revealing some of their design secrets. Finally, the fifth part is devoted to the handling, evaluation and distribution of medical images. A uniform user interface, computer assisted detection of lesions and integration into the hospital workflow are becoming increasingly important matters.

To compile such a plentitude of information into a single volume is a challenging task. It is expected that the reader is familiar with basic mathematics and the fundamentals of Fourier transform theory. The editor wishes to thank the 85 authors and co-authors who have contributed with their professional knowledge for their cooperation. Thanks also go to the publisher for his patient willingness to respond to the suggestions of the editor and to bring the sometimes bumpy English manuscripts into readable form. In particular, the tremendous dedication of the publishing editor Gerhard Seitfudem warrants special mention. Finally, this book would not have been possible without the continuous encouragement and support of the members of the board of Siemens Medical Solutions.

May the 4th edition (i.e. 2nd edition in English) of 'imaging for medical diagnostics' be accepted as a handbook suited as well for students interested in biomedical engineering as for their teachers, for developers and experts, and for everyone interested in current medical technology.

Arnulf Oppelt

Contents

Part I – Principles of Image Processing

1 Physiology of vision	18
1.1 General considerations regarding sensory physiology	18
1.2 The eye	19
1.2.1 Adequate stimulusus	19
1.2.2 Anatomy	19
1.3 Functioning of the eye	21
1.3.1 The imaging mechanism	21
1.3.2 Aberrations in image production	21
1.3.3 Eye defects	22
1.3.4 The accommodation process	23
1.3.5 Eye movements	23
1.3.6 Depth of field	24
1.4 Conversion of light into neural impulses	25
1.4.1 Anatomy of the retina	25
1.4.2 Spatial resolution	26
1.4.3 Contrast resolution	27
1.4.4 Adaptation	29
1.4.5 Sensitivity to color	33
1.4.6 Temporal resolution	34
1.5 Neural processing	36
1.5.1 Anatomy of the visual pathway	36
1.5.2 Three-dimensional vision	36
1.5.3 Depth perception	37
1.5.4 Optical illusions	38
1.5.5 Visual memory	39
1.6 References	40
2 Subjective assessment of image quality	42
2.1 Introduction	42
2.2 ROC Methology	42
2.3 Contrast detail resolution	44
2.4 References	46
3 Image rendering	47
3.1 2D imaging	47
3.2 Planar reformation	47

3.3 Segmentation	48
3.4 Surface rendering	49
3.4.1 Extraction of isosurfaces and the marching-cubes algorithm	49
3.5 Volume rendering	50
3.5.1 Image-order techniques	50
3.5.2 Object-order techniques and the shear-warp-factorization	52
3.5.3 Compositing	53
3.5.4 Conclusion	56
3.6 Transfer-functions	56
3.7 Local illumination	56
3.8 Volume rendering on graphics adapters	59
3.9 References	60
4 Image fusion	62
4.1 Introduction	62
4.1.1 Clinical relevance	62
4.1.2 Image fusion steps	62
4.1.3 General challenges	64
4.2 Registration	65
4.2.1 Registration by calibration	65
4.2.2 Image-based, 3D-3D registration	66
4.2.3 Image-based, 2D-3D registration	78
4.2.4 Validation of fusion results	82
4.3 Visualization	83
4.3.1 Visualization of MPR slices	83
4.3.2 Fusion result visualization using volume rendering techniques	86
4.3.3 Visualization of fused projection images	88
4.4 Clinical applications	88
4.4.1 Nuclear medicine: fusion of CT/MR and PET/SPECT images	88
4.4.2 Surgery	89
4.4.3 Treatment planning in radiation oncology	91
4.4.4 Interventional radiology	92
4.5 References	93
5 Novigation	06
5 I Introduction	90
5.1 Introduction	90
5.2 Principles of navigation	97
5.3 Localizer technologies	99
5.3.1 Principles of optical tracking systems	99
5.3.2 Electromagnetic position tracking	101
5.5.5 1001 CallDrauon	103
5.4 Kegistrafion	104
5.4.1 Point-pair matching using a 3D localizer	105
5.4.2 Surface matching	106

5.5 Navigation for image-guided surgery and intervention 1	107
5.5.1 CT/MRI-based navigation 1	107
5.5.2 2D mobile C-arm-based navigation 1	107
5.5.3 3D mobile C-arm-based navigation 1	109
5.6 Navigation accuracy 1	111
5.7 Clinical applications 1	111
5.8 Future prospects 1	113
5.9 References 1	13

Part II – Physics of Imaging

6 X-ray and γ-radiation	118
6.1 Generation of X-ray and γ-radiation	118
6.1.1 Properties of X-ray bremsstrahlung	119
6.1.2 Characteristic radiation	120
6.1.3 Intensity (energy flux density) of X-radiation	122
6.1.4 Target material	123
6.2 X-ray and γ -ray interaction with matter	124
6.2.1 Interaction effects and phenomenological description	124
6.2.2 The photoelectric effect	124
6.2.3 Compton effect	127
6.2.4 Coherent scattering	130
6.2.5 Interactions with real objects	131
6.3 Biological effects of radiation	135
6.3.1 Acute or deterministic radiation damage	135
6.3.2 Stochastic radiation damage	136
6.3.3 Estimate of radiation risk	136
6.3.4 Controversy concerning the effects of low radiation doses	140
6.4 References	141
7 Concepts in magnetic resonance imaging	143
7.1 Historical survey	143
7.2 The NMR phenomenon	144
7.2.1 Magnetization	144
7.2.2 Bloch equations	146
7.2.3 Relaxation	148
7.2.4 Magnetization transfer	151
7.2.5 Nuclear induction	152
7.2.6 Spin echoes	156
7.2.7 Steady-state free precession	158
7.2.8 Diffusion	161
7.2.9 Spectroscopy	165
7.2.10 Signal-to-noise ratio	168

7.3 Magnetic resonance imaging 170
7.3.1 NMR signal in a magnetic field gradient
7.3.2 Spatial resolution
7.3.3 Selective excitation
7.3.4 Pulse sequence and contrast
7.4 References
8 Physical principles of medical ultrasound
8.1 Introduction
8.2 Ultrasound field
8.2.1 Ultrasound field parameters
8.2.2 Ultrasound propagation
8.3 Imaging principles
8.3.1 Echo pulse method
8.3.2 Ultrasound transducer 199
8.3.3 Imaging methods
8.3.4 Methods of determining flow 202
8.4 Safety of diagnostic ultrasound 207
8.4.1 Acoustic output regulations 207
8.4.2 Bioeffects
8.4.3 Output display standard using thermal and mechanical indices 209
8.4.4 Summary – prudent use of ultrasound
8.5 References

Part III – Image Reconstruction

9 System theory
9.1 Introduction
9.2 Basic quantities for evaluating image quality
9.2.1 Contrast
9.2.2 Spatial resolution 216
9.2.3 Noise
9.3 References
10 Principles of image reconstruction
10.1 Introduction
10.2 Basic principles
10.3 2D Fourier reconstruction
10.4 Number of data
10.5 Filtered backprojection 235
10.6 3D projection reconstruction 237
10.7 Backprojection applying homogeneous coordinates
10.8 References

Part IV – Image Instrumentation

11 Image displays	244
11.1 Advantages and challenges of soft-copy reading	244
11.2 Impact of the human visual system on display design	245
11.2.1 Contrast sensitivity and spatial resolution	246
11.2.2 Contrast and dynamic range	247
11.2.3 Color vision	249
11.3 Medical display technologies	249
11.3.1 Cathode ray tube monitors	250
11.3.2 Liquid crystal displays	252
11.4 Technical display performance values	255
11.4.1 Display size	255
11.4.2 Spatial resolution	255
11.4.3 Luminance, contrast ratio, and veiling glare	256
11.4.4 Dynamic range and display curve	258
11.4.5 Noise	258
11.5 Digital imaging display systems	259
11.6 Referencess	260
12 X-ray components and systems	264
12.1 The X-ray tube	264
12.1.1 Emitters	265
12.1.2 Specifications for focal spot size and electron beam shape	272
12.1.3 The anode assembly	280
12.1.4 Anode load capacity	289
12.1.5 X-ray tube vacuum envelopes	292
12.1.6 Casing design	296
12.2 X-ray generators	300
12.2.1 General requirements	300
12.2.2 Technical aspects	303
12.2.3 Control circuits	305
12.2.4 Exposure control in direct radiography	309
12.2.5 Exposure control in indirect radiography	312
12.3 X-ray image detectors	315
12.3.1 Static detectors	315
12.3.2 X-ray image intensifiers	316
12.3.3 Processing the X-ray image intensifier's output image	323
12.3.4 Flat detectors	333
12.4 X-ray systems	349
12.4.1 Classification of X-ray systems	350
12.4.2 Intervention – a paradigm for a modern X-ray system	357
12.5 Cone-beam CI with C-arm systems	3/8
12.5.1 Introduction	378

12.5.2	Acquisition protocols and system properties	0
12.5.3	Calibration	1
12.5.4	Reconstruction	4
12.5.5	Visualization	4
12.5.6	Advanced application tools	5
12.5.7	Image quality	6
12.5.8	Clinical applications and examples 389	9
12.5.9	Outlook	3
12.6 Ma	mmography	3
12.6.1	System overview	4
12.6.2	Digital mammography 399	9
12.6.3	Other and new modalities	4
12.7 Re	ferences	4
13 Com	puted X-ray tomography413	3
13.1 Pri	nciples	3
13.1.1	Measurement principle	3
13.1.2	Basic image reconstruction	5
13.1.3	Single-slice axial CT and spiral CT 41	7
13.1.4	Image quality	2
13.2 Fro	om single-slice to multi-slice CT	4
13.3 Mu	llti-slice CT (MSCT)	8
13.3.1	System design	9
13.3.2	Detector design for MSCT 442	7
13.3.3	The cone-angle problem	1
13.3.4	MSCT spiral scan and reconstruction techniques	3
13.3.5	Double z-sampling	6
13.3.6	Dose in MDCT	8
13.4 Mu	ılti-slice cardiac CT	0
13.4.1	Introduction	0
13.4.2	ECG-triggered MSCT imaging	1
13.4.3	ECG-gated MSCT imaging	1
13.4.4	Performance evaluation	7
13.5 Cli	nical applications	9
13.5.1	Quantification of coronary calcification	9
13.5.2	Cardiac and coronary CT angiography 482	2
13.5.3	Evaluation of cardiac function	4
13.5.4	Preventive care: CT of the lung and colon	6
13.6 Th	e future of CT	8
13.6.1	From multi-slice to area-detector CT	8
13.6.2	Combined systems	0
13.6.3	Alternative system concepts	3
13.6.4	Maximum data volumes and theoretical CT limitations	4
13.7 Re:	ferences	5

14.1 Introduction 503 14.2 Imaging with single photon emitters – measurement principles and devices 504 14.2.1 The scintillation detector 504 14.2.2 The gamma camera (Anger camera) 506 14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.3 The gradient system 542
14.2 Imaging with single photon emitters – measurement principles and 504 devices 504 14.2.1 The scintillation detector 504 14.2.2 The gamma camera (Anger camera) 506 14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
devices 504 14.2.1 The scintillation detector 504 14.2.2 The gamma camera (Anger camera) 506 14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.2.1 The scintillation detector 504 14.2.2 The gamma camera (Anger camera) 506 14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.2.2 The gamma camera (Anger camera) 506 14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.3 SPECT systems 514 14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.3.1 General SPECT principle 514 14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.4.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.3.2 Overview of current systems 516 14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.3.3 Clinical applications 521 14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.3.4 New detector technologies 523 14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.4 PET systems 524 14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554
14.4.1 Principles of PET 524 14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.4.2 Characterization of PET scanners 530 14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.4.3 Clinical applications 532 14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
14.5 References 536 15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1 4 The PE system 554
15 Magnetic resonance imaging 540 15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
15.1 MR systems and components 540 15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15 1.4 The PE system 554
15.1.1 System overview 540 15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
15.1.2 The main magnet 542 15.1.3 The gradient system 554 15.1.4 The PE system 554
15.1.3 The gradient system
1514 The PE system
13.1.4 The NF System
15.1.5 System control
15.1.6 Image quality
15.1.7 MR safety 592
15.2 Methods and clinical applications
15.2.1 Sequences and contrast
15.2.2 Parallel imaging techniques (PAI)
15.2.3 Whole-body imaging
15.2.4 MRI and macroscopic motion
15.2.5 MRI and microscopic motion
15.2.0 Clinical examples
15.2.7 Childed MK Specifoscopy
15.2.8 References 716
15.5 References
16 Ultrasound imaging systems
16.1 Introduction 732
16.1.1 Operation
16.1.2 Typical modes
16.2 System architecture
16.2.1 Beamformer
16.2.2 Mid-processor
16.2.3 Display

16.3 Transducer types (from a system perspective)	768
16.3.1 Sector and vector transducers	768
16.3.2 Linear transducers	769
16.3.3 Curved transducers	770
16.3.4 Intra-cavity transducers	770
16.3.5 Multi-row arrays (1.25 and 1.5 dimensional arrays)	770
16.3.6 Hanafy lens approach to control elevation beamwidth	771
16.3.7 Summary of different transducer types	772
16.4 B-mode imaging	773
16.4.1 Harmonics for clutter reduction	773
16.4.2 Transmit pulse coding	776
16.4.3 Compounding	779
16.5 Contrast agent imaging	782
16.5.1 Brief discussion of the physics of contrast agents	782
16.5.2 Destructive contrast agent detection techniques (disruption)	783
16.5.3 Pulse inversion as a nondestructive contrast agent detection technique	784
16.5.4 Third order scattering for nondestructive contrast agent detection	785
16.6 Quantification	786
16.7 3D imaging	788
16.7.1 Wobblers	788
16.7.2 2D arrays	789
16.7.3 3D transesophageal imaging	790
16.8 Conclusion	791
16.9 Methods and applications in sonography	792
16.9.1 2D-imaging	792
16.9.2 Doppler imaging	794
16.9.3 Harmonic imaging	801
16.9.4 Compounding technologies and applications	805
16.9.5 Workflow-improvement and standardization technologies	814
16.9.6 Special cardiac transducers and evaluations	815
16.10 References	820
17 Special and hybrid systems	821
17.1 Imaging for radiation therapy	821
17.1.1 Introduction	821
17.1.2 The portal imaging beam 8	823
17.1.3 Portal imaging detectors	825
17.1.4 Advanced techniques	827
17.1.5 Summary	830
17.2 Hybrid systems: PET/CT and SPECT·CT 8	830
17.2.1 Clinical benefits of combined functional and morphological imaging \dots	831
17.2.2 Design criteria for PET/CT systems	831
17.2.3 PET/CT applications 8	832
17.2.4 SPECT and CT	835

17.3 Combining imaging modalities for interventional procedures
17.3.1 Interventional angiography combined with CT imaging
17.3.2 Interventional angiography combined with MRI imaging
17.4 Imaging in the operating room 842
17.4.1 Intraoperative imaging 842
17.4.2 Integrated surgical workplaces 855
17.5 References 860
18 Molecular imaging
18.1 Introduction
18.2 Imaging probes
18.3 Signal amplification strategies 868
18.4 Imaging modalities 868
18.4.1 Nuclear imaging 869
18.4.2 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)
18.4.3 Optical imaging 873
18.4.4 Computed tomography 878
18.4.5 Ultrasound
18.4.6 Combined systems 879
18.5 Outlook
18.6 References 880

Part V – Information Processing and Distribution

19 Software platform for medical imaging
19.1 Overview
19.2 Introduction to medical imaging software domain
19.2.1 Aspects of a common style guide
19.2.2 A sample workflow 893
19.2.3 Analysis of the problem domain 905
19.2.4 From programming to software configuration
19.3 Software terminology 908
19.4 Application architecture
19.4.1 Three-tiered architecture model
19.4.2 Application architecture and component-runtime management 915
19.4.3 Presentation-logic containerware and componentware
19.4.4 Business logic containerware and componentware
19.4.5 Asynchronous communication: decoupling presentation
and business logic 919
19.5 Business objects for medical imaging
19.6 Services for medical imaging
19.6.1 Data management services 921
19.6.2 DICOM work list, storage, query and print-management services 921

19.6.3 2D/3D/4D image processing services and framework
19.6.4 Security management services
19.6.5 Basic services
19.6.6 Systems management service
19.7 Tool support for <i>syngo</i> 's product-line architecture
19.8 Medical enterprise application integration (EAI)
19.9 References
20 Computer-aided detection and diagnosis (CAD)
20.1 Introduction
20.2 Performance measurement of CAD systems
20.3 Computer-aided detection dataflow
20.4 Development and validation of CAD systems –
databases, training and testing of classifiers
20.5 Future directions in CAD
20.6 References
21 Hospital information systems
21.1 Information system basics
21.2 Introduction to hospital information systems
21.3 Purpose and classification
21.4 Hospital workflow and integration
21.5 HIS architecture
21.6 Patient administration and revenue management
21.6.1 Functionality
21.6.2 Technical realization of reimbursement workflow
21.7 The electronic medical record (EMR)
21.7.1 Functionality
21.7.2 User interface and technical realization
21.8 Clinical workflow applications
21.8.1 Functionality
21.8.2 Technical realization of system intelligence
21.9 Departmental information system: radiology
21.9.1 The radiology workflow
21.9.2 The radiology information system (RIS)
21.9.3 The picture archiving and communication system (PACS)
21.10 Integrated workplaces
21.10.1 Integrated workplaces in radiology
21.10.2 Integrated workplaces in cardiology
21.11 The digital hospital and beyond – a vision
21.12 References
Index 000
шисл

Part I – Principles of Image Processing

1 Physiology of vision

1.1 General considerations regarding sensory physiology

Over the last few decades much progress has been made in the area of imaging systems for use in medical diagnostics. New techniques, for example magnetic resonance tomography, have been developed, opening up new avenues in diagnosis. However, enormous improvements have also been made in conventional techniques, e.g. those using X-rays, in particular by the application of microelectronics: the amount of radiation to which the patient is exposed has been drastically reduced, and the quality of the images considerably enhanced.

Today industry is able to produce imaging systems which are to a large extent technically compatible with the biological needs of the human eye. In order to give a full account of these systems, it therefore seems appropriate to begin by giving some idea of the function of the eye as a sense organ.

The sense organs allow the organism to perceive its constantly changing environment. Depending on the physical dimension of the environmental change, the various sense organs are specialized for quite specific, adequate stimuli. Different sensory perceptions [1.1], also known as sensory modalities, arise in this way.

The amount of information received by all the sensory organs together is immense. It has been estimated at around 10^9 bits/s [1.2]. This flood of information, cannot, how-



Figure 1.1 The neuron, the basic working unit of the central nervous system

ever, be transmitted by the nerves to the brain in its entirety. The nervous system therefore needs to select the most important information at any particular moment. This selection procedure cuts down the information received in the ratio of 10⁷: 1. People vary greatly in the selection they make so that the same pattern of stimuli will be perceived and assessed differently from one person to another. In principle this information selection takes place in the nervous system by means of the excitation and inhibition of nerve cells. Thus the nervous system has the task of comparing information in terms of the degree of neural excitation and, where necessary, of passing it on to higher decision-making centers. In order to perform this task, the nervous system has two separate functional elements: nerve cell bodies for converting information and nerve fibers for stimulus conduction. Collections of nerve cells in the brain and in the spinal cord are known as gray matter and the fibers as white matter. The neuron is the basic working unit of the central nervous system (CNS). It consists of a cell body with several projections which increase its surface area, and a long fiber, the axon, which establishes the contacts (synaptic junctions) with other nerve cells. Figure 1.1 shows a diagram of such a neuron.

This method of transforming and transmitting information applies equally to all the sensory organs, including the *eye*. In this process, specific sensory perception is not generated by the nature of the impulse, but by the anatomy of the nerve connections between the relevant sensory organs and particular areas of the brain. Thus a distinction is made anatomically between a visual pathway, an auditory pathway, an olfactory pathway, a gustatory pathway and a pain pathway. Even the quality of sensory perception, which in the case of the eye constitutes the difference between color perception and light-dark perception, is governed by the finely-structured connections between individual nerve fibers and relevant sensory cells.

1.2 The eye

1.2.1 Adequate stimulusus

The eye is sensitive to certain electromagnetic waves. These waves can be divided up into various regions [1.3] which have quite different effects on the organism. As can be seen from fig. 1.2, the sensitivity range of the eye barely covers one octave (400 to 780 nm) of the electromagnetic spectrum. The frequency corresponds to the color (see fig. 1.17), the amplitude to the degree of brightness perceived.

In addition, the sense of vision can perceive objects in three dimensions. This is because of the parallactic shift of the image seen by the right eye relative to that seen by the left eye.

1.2.2 Anatomy

Like the camera, the eye has an optical imaging system. It consists of the cornea and the lens. In order to reduce chromatic aberration (color distortion), the lens is made



Spectral regions used in imaging systems

Figure 1.2 Regions of the electromagnetic spectrum

up of several layers, like an onion, each with a different refractive index. Anatomical details are shown in fig. 1.3 [1.4]. The space between the cornea and the lens (anterior chamber) is filled by the crystal-clear aqueous humor. The interior of the eye is occupied by the jelly-like vitreous body, which in common with all the other transparent parts of the eye does not contain any blood vessels, receiving nutrients by diffusion. Inside the sclera (the firm white outer membrane) lies the choroid (the brownish vascular membrane), followed by the retina. The retina contains the light-sensitive elements, the rods and the cones, which convert the electromagnetic waves into nerve impulses. The retina also contains nerve cells which carry out a preliminary processing of the information on the spot. This is also where the fibers of the optical nerve start. The lens is suspended in the ring-shaped muscle of the ciliary body. The iris, which covers the front of the lens, leaves only a small aperture (the pupil) open. Six muscles, stemming from the bone wall of the eye socket and attached to the outside of the sclera, are capable of moving and turning the eyeball in all directions.



Figure 1.3 Anatomy of the eye

1.3 Functioning of the eye

1.3.1 The imaging mechanism

The projection of an image of the environment through the cornea onto the retina obeys the laws of geometrical optics [1.5, 1.1], as shown in fig. 1.4. The various optical media of the eye have the following refractive indices: cornea 1.38, aqueous humor 1.34, lens 1.44. Since the density of the eye roughly corresponds to that of water, the critical angle for total reflection can be calculated to be 48° 40'. In principle an image can be produced by the outer surface of the cornea alone. However, the lens in the eye permits light to be refracted to varying degrees, which in turn permits focusing on near and distant objects. The total refracting power of the healthy eye is about 48 diopters, and the capacity to vary this by means of the lens is known as the amplitude of accommodation. In young people the amplitude of accommodation is around 12 diopters; with increasing age (usually between 50 and 60) it approaches one diopter [1.6].

1.3.2 Aberrations in image production

As is generally the case in optics, the eye suffers from certain common lens aberrations. Spherical aberration, which leads to peripheral rays being more powerfully refracted than central rays resulting in a barrel-shaped distortion, is corrected to a large extent by the diaphragm action of the pupil. Chromatic aberration (color distortion), due to more powerful refraction of blue rays than red rays, is mitigated by the effect of the onion-like structure of the lens with its layers of different refractive index (the inner layers refract more powerfully than the outer layers). When colored objects are



Figure 1.4 Geometrical optics of the eye

observed, difficulties in accommodation can occur if the object lies in a plane close to the eye, because the eye tries to accommodate in turn to the colors with shorter or longer wavelengths. When the object is further away, this effect does not arise because of the greater depth of field.

1.3.3 Eye defects

Figure 1.5 shows that a sharp image is formed on the retina of an eye with normal vision.







In the case of an eyeball which is too long (shortsighted) or too short (longsighted), the image is formed in a plane in front of or behind the retina. A sharp image can therefore only be achieved by means of correction with appropriate lenses (glasses or contact lenses). Apart from the decrease in amplitude of accommodation due to the loss of lens elasticity associated with increasing age (as illustrated in fig. 1.6), clouding of the lens or of the aqueous humor can cause sight to deteriorate.

1.3.4 The accommodation process

Focusing an image on the retina is achieved by changing the refractive power of the lens. This is done by contraction or relaxation of the ring-shaped ciliary muscle (see fig. 1.3) so that the lens is compressed or stretched radially. The process is controlled by the nerve cells of the oculomotor center in the brain which adjusts the refractive power of the lens until the size of the image reaches a minimum.

1.3.5 Eye movements

With the help of the eye muscles shown in fig. 1.7, the eye is moved until the image of the object to be observed is located at the point of maximum resolving power (smallest spatial resolution) on the retina (viz. the fovea: see fig. 1.3). As can be seen from fig. 1.10, this point has the highest cone density. The process is subject to continuous control, because the eye moves its optical axis in relation to the object observed until the number of stimulated cones reaches a maximum. As in any control process, there is permanent adjustment towards an optimum value, i.e. the axis of the eye is moving constantly to and fro. In order to maintain this maximum stimulation, the eye continually makes oscillatory movements (saccades) in all directions. Such movements are



also carried out in a resting state (with the eyes open) at a frequency of approximately 10 Hz.

1.3.6 Depth of field

The eye's depth of field depends on the same parameters as does any ordinary optical apparatus. That is, it depends on the diameter of the pupil (aperture) and on the degree of accommodation (depth adjustment). As fig. 1.8 shows, in the case of medium



Figure 1.8

Depth of field of the human eye in relation to accommodation at medium pupil diameter. Accommodation to a distance of 5.74 m gives the ability to see in focus at distances between 3 m and infinity (fixed focus setting according to Ranke in [1.1]) pupil diameter and accommodation to a distance of 5.74 in, everything from 3 in to infinity is seen in focus [1.1].

1.4 Conversion of light into neural impulses

1.4.1 Anatomy of the retina

As fig. 1.3 shows, the retina lies on the inside of the rear half of the eyeball. It contains the photosensitive rods and cones as well as the nerve cells [1.4] which preprocess optical information. Figure 1.9 shows a diagram of a microscopic portion of the retina with all the optically active elements. From the diagram it is clear that the photosensitive outer segments of the rods and cones which contain the visual purple [1.7] are turned away from the light and are partially submerged in the pigment layer (not shown). This means that the effect of scattered light is reduced and that the sensitive elements are protected from overexposure to light by creeping into the pigment layer.



Figure 1.9

Diagrammatic representation of the structure and relative position of the active elements of the retina

The visual purple [1.8], a derivate from vitamin A, is stored in the outer segments of the cones; it is decomposed by the absorption of light, the cleavage molecules producing an impulse which is passed on by the photoreceptors to the bipolar cells via synaptic junctions. The connection of several photoreceptors to one bipolar cell forms the receptive field [1.9]. Every ray of light that hits one of the receptor cells in such a group stimulates the nerve cells connected to them in such a way that those at the edge have an inhibitory effect whilst those at the center have an excitatory effect (or more rarely, the other way round). With increasing light intensity, however, the activity changes in that the amount of inhibition becomes greater. In this way the difference between light (excitation) and dark (inhibition) is reinforced. The impulses travel from the bipolar cells via further synaptic junctions to the ganglion cells and optic nerve fibers, which transmit them to the brain.

1.4.2 Spatial resolution

Visual acuity

Two points are only recognized as being separate entities when the images on the retina are so far apart that an unstimulated cone or receptive field happens to be located between the two. The bigger the receptive elements, therefore, the greater will be the distance required between the two images in order for them still to be seen separately, and the spatial resolution of the eye will be correspondingly worse. In medicine



Figure 1.10

Diagram of the rods and cones at the fovea (macula lutea) and in sections of the retina separated by an arc of 30 and 60 degrees from the macula. In the macula lutea there are only cones; towards the periphery both rods and cones are found, with cones becoming progressively less numerous and rods more numerous. The diagram is copied from a microphotograph. Next to it are shown the mechanisms for visual acuity and Vernier acuity. See text for details. this is called the visual acuity [1.1] and is related to the angle between two light rays which can still just be told apart. As is clear from fig. 1.10, the width of a cone in the macula lutea is about 3 μ m, so that taking into account the laws governing image formation in the eye, there is a maximum possible visual acuity corresponding to 50 arc seconds. From fig. 1.10 it is also clear that the distance between cones in the outer regions of the retina increases giving the distribution of visual acuity over the retina shown. Only in a narrow range of 5°, corresponding to the extent of the macula lutea, can the maximal visual acuity therefore be achieved.

Vernier acuity

Whilst the visual acuity of the eye is already very high, an even greater resolving power is possible under certain conditions, namely when lines, rather than two points, have to be distinguished. As shown in fig. 1.10, the eye detects the break in a line due to a slightly offset continuation because the cones (or rather, the nerve cells connected to them) are all interlinked and can tell if on average more cones are being stimulated after the break (from the other half of the image) than before the break. By means of statistical evaluation of the distribution of the stimulated cones, the nervous system can recognize distances between lines which are even smaller than the distances detected in conditions of maximum visual acuity. This fact has long been known in engineering workshops and is used when reading the Vernier scale on measuring instruments, which has led to the name 'Vernier acuity'. In summary it should be emphasized that the nature of the neural processing mechanisms means that visual acuity also depends on the shape of the object perceived.

1.4.3 Contrast resolution

Differential sensitivity

In principle one might expect that a minimum increase in the brightness of an object exist which will produce a minimum increase in the magnitude of the eye's sensory experience. This assumption has proved to be correct, with one qualification: the minimal increase in the magnitude of the sensory experience depends upon the level of background illumination at the time. According to the Weber-Fechner law, the magnitude of the sensitivity *E* increases logarithmically with the strength of stimulus *R* according to the equation

$$E = K \ln \frac{R}{R_0}$$

in which, according to Fechner [1.1], *K* is a constant and *R* the original stimulus intensity. If, following the practice in technical fields [1.10], the logarithmic value of the light intensity is plotted on the ordinate and the magnitude of the sensitivity is plotted on the abscissa, the graph shown in fig. 1.11a is obtained. At the point where the graph climbs most steeply, the contrast sensitivity is high; where the graph is flat, the contrast sensitivity is low. In the top area glare is said to occur whilst in the bottom area the stimulus is said to be below threshold. Fig. 1.11b shows the differential quotient, i.e. the contrast sensitivity.



a) The sensitivity $E = K \ln \frac{R}{R_0}$ is plotted as function of the intensity of illumination. The eye can distinguish about 50 equally spaced levels of sensitivity. Of these roughly 35 lie in the linear region.

b) This graph shows the actual sensitivity to the eye to contrast (differences in brightness). If the Weber-Fechner law were to hold exactly (rising straight line in a)) the curve (taken from Ranke [1.1]) would be parallel to the x-axis.

Figure 1.11



Glare

As explained in the last paragraph, the term glare [1.11] means the reduction to zero of the contrast sensitivity as a consequence of being exposed to such great light intensity that one no longer sees anything but 'brightness'. This definition, however, fails to encompass all the phenomena and causes of glare. Glare also occurs locally, if next to a brightly lit portion of the retina the strongly stimulated cones there inhibit their weakly stimulated neighbors. In this way this area of the retina falls beneath the stimulus threshold and can no longer detect any differences in brightness. Such an effect is reinforced even more by the scattered light [1.12] emanating from a bright ray of light in the not completely clear media of the eye, especially of the vitreous body. This scattered light obscures the tiny differences in brightness of the weakly illuminated surroundings of a bright spot on the retina.

Simultaneous contrast

The mutual coupling of the rods and cones described previously, which is associated with a mutual promotion or inhibition of stimulation, is known as lateral enhancement or inhibition, as the case may be. It is the cause of the fact that a brightly illuminated spot on the retina inhibits the cells around it; by so doing the difference in brightness of the stimulus, and with it the sensory experience, is reinforced. The end





Figure 1.12

An example of simultaneous contrast. The same gray rectangle appears darker on a white background and lighter on a black background.

result is therefore always a neural enhancement in the perceived contrast, an effect which is demonstrated in fig. 1.12.

Successive contrast

Since in the case of pictures presented one after another the neural enhancement in the perceived contrast cannot occur because of the lack of inhibition, the contrast sensitivity is less than in the case of simultaneous contrast.

Contrast gradient (image definition)

The transition from a bright to a dark area of a picture normally takes place gradually so that a contrast gradient can be defined as the decrease in brightness over the appropriate distance in the image. Should this distance reach dimensions comparable to those of the diameter of a cone, it will lie beneath visual acuity and the physical contrast gradient can be ignored. In such a case it is only the physiological mechanisms for the perception of contrast which are involved, so that any further improvement in definition using technical means does not make sense. Besides these considerations, the problems mentioned in connection with glare play an important role, especially when the change in the level of brightness is very large.

1.4.4 Adaptation

Spatial resolution, the detection of contrast and the perception of definition, i.e. the mechanisms which are necessary for producing image quality, are extremely dependent on the eye's adjustment to brightness, known as adaptation [1.13]. This process can be described as follows: when bright light hits the eye, the visual purple in the cones is decomposed. The breakdown products give rise to stimulation. At the same time, however, the visual purple is reconstituted at a quite specific rate and is once more available for the visual process. When illumination starts, the breakdown process predominates, so that there is intense stimulation. With the onset of the reconstitution processes, a situation of equilibrium develops in which breakdown and reconstitution are exactly in balance. The breakdown products available at this stage are